IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO. 19-0925
)
 AJAMU MANU EL-AMIN,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE WILLIAM P. KELLY, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

ROBERT P. RANSCHAU
Assistant Appellate Defender
ranschau@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER DEFENDANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I SECTION 10 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION WHEN PLEA COUNSEL ALLOWED DEFENDANT TO ENTER A GUILTY PLEA DESPITE THE LACK OF A FACTUAL BASIS?

Authorities

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Finney, 834 N.W.2d 46, 49 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Ortiz, 789 N.W.2d 761, 764 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Straw, 709 N.W. 128, 133 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Allen, 708 N.W.2d 361, 368 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Royer, 632 N.W.2d 905, 909 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Schoelerman, 315 N.W.2d 67, 72–73 (Iowa 1982)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 693 (1984)

Henderson v. Scurr, 313 N.W.2d 522, 524 (Iowa 1981)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b) (2017)

State v. Schminkey, 597 N.W.2d 785, 788 (Iowa 1999)

Farley v. Glanton, 280 N.W.2d 411, 416 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Mitchell, 650 N.W.2d 619, 620 (Iowa 2002)

Iowa Code § 709.1(1) (2017)

Iowa Code § 709.4(1)(a) (2017)

In re Det. Of Swanson, 668 N.W.2d 570, 574 (Iowa 2003)

Anderson v. State, 801 N.W.2d 1, 1 (Iowa 2011)

Holland v. State, 253 Iowa 1006, 1011, 115 N.W.2d 161, 164 (1962)

State v. Elphic, No. 14-0600, 2015 WL 408092, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 28, 2015)

United States v. Culbertson, 670 F.3d 183, 190-91 (2d Cir. 2012)

United States v. Adams, 448 F.3d 492, 502 (2d Cir.2006)

Godwin v. United States, 687 F.2d 585, 591 (2d Cir.1982)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve applying existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a) (2017).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by Defendant-Appellant, Ajamu Manu El-Amin, from his convictions, sentence and judgment for two counts of sexual abuse in the third degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1(1) and 709.4(1)(a) (2017). Judgment was entered following defendant's guilty plea in Polk County District Court with the Honorable William P. Kelly, presiding.

Course of Proceedings: On May 3, 2018, the State filed a trial information charging defendant with sexual abuse in the second degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1 and 709.3(c) (2017). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-5).

On May 6, 2019, defendant entered a guilty plea pursuant to an agreement with the State. Under the terms of the agreement, defendant would enter pleas of guilty to two counts of sexual abuse in the third degree. (Plea Tr. p. 80 Line 12 – p. 81 Line 6). The defendant would be sentenced to ten years on each count to be served consecutively. (Plea Tr. p. 80 Line 12 – p. 81 Line 6). The District Court accepted the pleas as knowing and voluntary. (Plea Tr. p. 120 Line 17 – p. 121 Line 13).

Defendant requested immediate sentencing and waived his right to a delay before sentencing, his right to file a motion in arrest of judgment, and his right to use of a presentence investigation report. (Plea Tr. p. 122 Line 21 – p. 125 Line 17). The Court adopted the plea agreement and sentenced defendant to consecutive sentences of imprisonment. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 6-11). The sentences were also ordered to be served consecutively to a sentence previously imposed. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 6-11). The court

imposed the minimum fines on both counts. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 6-11).

Defendant filed notice of appeal on June 4, 2018. (Notice) (App. p. 12).

Facts: Defendant entered guilty pleas to two counts of sexual abuse. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 6-11). During the plea taking hearing, when asked to provide a factual basis for the charges, defendant stated that he, “[f]orced Gina to have sex and then intimidated that other guy and made sure that he had sex with her too.” (Plea Tr. p. 116 Lines 7-9).

ARGUMENT

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I SECTION 10 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION WHEN PLEA COUNSEL ALLOWED DEFENDANT TO ENTER A GUILTY PLEA DESPITE THE LACK OF A FACTUAL BASIS.

A. Preservation of Error: Appellate review is not precluded if failure to preserve error results from a denial of effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Tobin*, 333 N.W.2d 842,

844 (Iowa 1983); *State v. Finney*, 834 N.W.2d 46, 49 (Iowa 2013), *State v. Ortiz*, 789 N.W.2d 761 (Iowa 2010). Defendant's failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment does not preclude him from challenging the defects in the plea proceeding if that failure resulted from ineffective assistance of counsel. See *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W. 128, 133 (Iowa 2006).

We have recognized an exception to the rule when a defendant alleges trial counsel was ineffective for permitting him to plead guilty to a charge for which there is no factual basis and for failing to thereafter file a motion in arrest of judgment. See, e.g., *State v. Allen*, 708 N.W.2d 361, 368 (Iowa 2006); *State v. Royer*, 632 N.W.2d 905, 909 (Iowa 2001); *State v. Schoelerman*, 315 N.W.2d 67, 72–73 (Iowa 1982); *State v. Finney*, 834 N.W.2d 46, 49 (Iowa 2013).

B. Standard of Review: When a defendant asserts a constitutional violation, the reviewing court makes an independent evaluation of the totality of the circumstances, which is the equivalent of a de novo review. *Taylor v. State*,

352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984).

C. Argument: A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction has two components:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 693 (1984). See also *Taylor v. State*, 352 N.W.2d 683, 685 (Iowa 1984). Defendant has the burden to prove both of these elements by a preponderance of the evidence. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d at 693. A convicted defendant making a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment. *Id.* at 690, 104

S.Ct. at 2066, 80 L.Ed.2d at 695.

The ultimate test is whether under the entire record and totality of the circumstances counsel's performance was within the range of normal competency. *Henderson v. Scurr*, 313 N.W.2d 522, 524 (Iowa 1981). The defendant must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 446 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068, 80 L.Ed.2d at 698. In the context of a guilty plea, a defendant must show there was a reasonable probability that "but for counsel's errors, he or she would have pleaded not guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 138 (Iowa 2006).

Defendant contends plea counsel provided ineffective assistance by allowing him to enter a guilty plea and not filing a motion in arrest of judgment despite the lack of a factual basis for the charge on sexual abuse in the second degree.

“Defense counsel violates an essential duty when counsel permits defendant to plead guilty and waive his right to file a motion in arrest of judgment when there is no factual basis to support the defendant’s guilty plea.” *State v. Ortiz*, 789 N.W.2d 761, 764 (Iowa 2010). “Prejudice is presumed under these circumstances.” *Id.* at 764–65.

A district court must ensure that a plea is supported by a factual basis before accepting a guilty plea. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b) (2017); *Finney*, 834 N.W.2d at 61.

This requirement exists even where the plea is an *Alford* plea. Where a factual basis for a charge does not exist, and trial counsel allows the defendant to plead guilty anyway, counsel has failed to perform an essential duty. *Id.* Prejudice in such a case is inherent. Therefore, our first and only inquiry is whether the record shows a factual basis for [defendant’s] guilty plea to the charge of theft of a motor vehicle. In deciding whether a factual basis exists, we consider the entire record before the district court at the guilty plea hearing, including any statements made by the defendant, facts related by the prosecutor, the minutes of testimony, and the presentence report.

State v. Schminkey, 597 N.W.2d 785, 788 (Iowa 1999). See also *Farley v. Glanton*, 280 N.W.2d 411, 416 (Iowa 1979) (factual basis for *Alford* plea substitutes for admission of guilt).

“[U]nder no circumstances may a conviction upon [a] plea of guilty stand if it appears that the facts of the charge do not state a violation of the statute under which the charge is made.” *State v. Mitchell*, 650 N.W.2d 619, 620 (Iowa 2002); see also *Schminkey*, 597 N.W.2d at 788.

Defendant was originally charged with one count of sexual abuse in the second degree. (Information) (App. pp. 4-5). Pursuant to a plea agreement the State orally amended the trial information to charge defendant with two counts of sexual abuse in the third degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1(1) and 709.4(1)(a). (Plea Tr. p. 80 Line 12 – p. 81 Line 6, Sentencing Order p. 1) (App. p. 6). The victim in count I was identified as Gina Simmons and the victim in count II was identified as Jonathan Campbell. (Plea Tr. p. 80 Line 12 – p. 81 Line 6, Sentencing Order p. 1) (App. p. 6).

Iowa Code section 709.1(1) (2017) states as follows:

Any sex act between persons is sexual abuse by either of the persons when the act is performed with the other person in any of the following circumstances:

1. The act is done by force or against the will of the other. If the consent or acquiescence of the other is procured by threats of violence toward any person or if the act is done while the other is under the influence of a drug inducing sleep or is otherwise in a state of unconsciousness, the act is done against the will of the other.

Iowa Code section 709.4(1)(a) states as follows:

1. A person commits sexual abuse in the third degree when the person performs a sex act under any of the following circumstances:

a. The act is done by force or against the will of the other person, whether or not the other person is the person's spouse or is cohabiting with the person.

The following exchange occurred when the district court asked the defendant to provide a factual basis for the charges:

THE COURT: Okay. Now, we're talking about third-degree sexual abuse under Iowa Code section 709.4, so I want to just go over those elements with you.

So the State would have to prove that in Polk County, Iowa, on or about April 4th of 2017, either individually or by joint criminal conduct, or by aiding and abetting another, you committed sexual abuse in the third degree by performing a sex act by force or against the will of another person and you weren't cohabiting as husband and wife.

Mr. Salvner, what am I leaving out here?

MR. SALVNER: I don't think you are leaving anything out. It's essentially -- and, Your Honor, I submitted one order and then I submitted another one that's marked, "Use this one," because I think it's really important with my Amended Trial Information to include -- I missed a really important subsection. So sex abuse in the third degree has many ways that it can occur. 709.4(1)(a) is the one that Mr. El-Amin is pleading guilty to, which is a crime against an adult, by force or against the will of that individual. So those are the elements.

THE COURT: So, Mr. El-Amin, you understand they would have to prove that you were in Polk County, Iowa, on that date and time and committed that crime. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. Do you understand each and every element of the crime charged?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Have you and Mr. Bailey discussed the charges and the elements of those crimes?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. El-Amin, did you, in Polk County, Iowa, on April 4th of 2017, commit the crimes of sexual abuse in the third degree?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Can you tell me in your own words exactly what you did to commit those two charges.

THE DEFENDANT: Forced Gina to have sex and then intimidated that other guy and made sure he had sex with her too.

THE COURT: All right. I'm going to break it down a little bit more. So can you tell me where you were at when you were engaging in a sex act, by force, with Gina.

THE DEFENDANT: In the alley behind South -- in the alley behind St. Vincent de Paul.

THE COURT: Okay. What town were you in?

THE DEFENDANT: Des Moines, Iowa.

THE COURT: That's in Polk County, Iowa?

THE DEFENDANT: It's right there off Sixth Street.

THE COURT: All right. And would you agree you did engage in a sex act against the will of Gina?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And you had another gentleman that was there with you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you remember his name?

THE DEFENDANT: Jonathan Campbell.

THE COURT: All right. What did you do to Mr. Campbell?

THE DEFENDANT: Intimidated him to have sex, too.

THE COURT: And who did he have sex with?

THE DEFENDANT: Gina Simmons.

THE COURT: It was in the same alley, in Des Moines, Iowa?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: In Polk County, Iowa?

THE DEFENDANT: Yep, right by Sixth Avenue.

THE COURT: And can you tell me how you used intimidation to get him to do that.

THE DEFENDANT: He says it was a knife, but it wasn't a knife. It was a stick. A stick -- a thick one, like Gina said it was. He said a knife. Gina said a stick. It was a stick.

THE COURT: All right. So you have a big stick. And what was -- what were you doing with the big stick?

THE DEFENDANT: Threatening him with it, to

have sex with her. Like, I was going to poke him with it.

THE COURT: And did he in fact have sex?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And did you in fact have sex with Gina?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. Bailey, do you have any further questions for Mr. El-Amin?

MR. BAILEY: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Salvner?

MR. SALVNER: No, Your Honor.

(Plea Tr. p. 114 Line 15 – p. 118 Line 11).

The district court relied on the defendant's statements, the prosecutor's statements and the minutes of evidence in finding that a factual basis exists. (Sentencing Order p. 1) (App. p. 6). The factual basis, however, is lacking in regards to the second count. (Plea Tr. p. 114 line 15 – p. 118 Lines 11, Minutes) (Conf. App. pp. 4-30). There is no indication that defendant performed a sex act upon Jonathan Campbell.

Defendant's trial counsel should not have allowed defendant to plead guilty to a crime which defendant did not commit.

In order to be guilty of sexual abuse in the third degree under code sections 709.1(1) and 709.4(1)(a), the defendant must have committed a sex act under certain circumstances upon the victim. We look "first and foremost to the language it chose in creating the act." *In re Det. Of Swanson*, 668 N.W.2d 570, 574 (Iowa 2003). "We read the statute as a whole and give it its plain and obvious meaning, a sensible and logical construction, which does not create an impractical or absurd result." *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). "Ours not to reason why, ours but to read, and apply. It is our duty to accept the law as the legislative body enacts it." *Anderson v. State*, 801 N.W.2d 1, 1 (Iowa 2011) (quoting *Holland v. State*, 253 Iowa 1006, 1011, 115 N.W.2d 161, 164 (1962)).

We conclude that a factual basis to support a guilty plea is so fundamental that it cannot be waived. *State v. Elphic*,

No. 14–0600, 2015 WL 408092, at *4 (Iowa Ct.App. Jan. 28, 2015) (*quoting United States v. Culbertson*, 670 F.3d 183, 190–91 (2d Cir.2012)); *see also United States v. Adams*, 448 F.3d 492, 502 (2d Cir.2006) (“A lack of a factual basis for a plea is a substantial defect calling into question the validity of the plea. ‘Such defects are not technical, but are so fundamental as to cast serious doubt on the voluntariness of the plea,’ and require reversal and remand so that the defendant may plead anew or stand trial.” (*quoting Godwin v. United States*, 687 F.2d 585, 591 (2d Cir.1982) (citations omitted))).

Two possible remedies exist in this circumstance. *Royer*, 632 N.W.2d at 909. If a defendant is charged with the wrong crime, dismissal of the charge is appropriate. *Id.* at 910. If it is possible a factual basis can be shown, it is more appropriate to vacate the sentence and remand the case to allow the State to provide a factual basis. *Id.* Since the plea agreement in the instant case encompassed both counts, the judgment and sentence for both counts should be vacated.

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons stated above, Defendant-Appellant, Ajamu Manu El-Amin, respectfully requests this Court to vacate his conviction, sentence and judgment for remand to the District Court for further proceedings.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

Counsel requests not to be heard in oral argument.

ATTORNEY'S COST CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, hereby certifies that the true cost of producing the necessary copies of the foregoing Brief and Argument was \$1.36, and that amount has been paid in full by the Office of the Appellate Defender.