IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-0925

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

AJAMU MANU EL-AMIN,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE WILLIAM KELLY, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

SHERYL SOICH
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
sherri.soich@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

MICHAEL SALVNER & JAKI LIVINGSTON
Assistant Polk County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **Because a Factual Basis Supported the Defendant’s Guilty Plea to Two Counts of Third-Degree Sexual Abuse, Counsel Was Under No Obligation to Challenge the Plea.**

Scope of Review.

Although “[r]eview of a lack-of-a-factual basis challenge to a guilty plea is usually on error,” the court’s review is *de novo* here because El-Amin’s claim is presented under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel. *See State v. Doggett*, 687 N.W.2d 97, 99 (Iowa 2004).

Preservation of Error.

Error preservation is unnecessary in the context of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *State v. Stallings*, 658 N.W.2d 106, 108 (Iowa 2003).

Merits.

Ajamu El-Amin raises one claim on appeal. He contends his lawyer was ineffective in allowing him to plead guilty to two counts of third-degree sexual abuse. El-Amin argues that a factual basis was

lacking to support the sexual abuse count involving Jonathan Campbell and the victim, Gina Simmons. This court should find, to the contrary, that a factual basis supported El-Amin's plea.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim involving complaints of specific acts or omissions, the defendant must show that "(1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) prejudice resulted therefrom." *State v. Fountain*, 786 N.W.2d 260, 266-67 (Iowa 2010). Ultimately, the test of ineffective assistance of counsel rests on whether counsel's performance was reasonably effective; the defendant must show that the performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness such that his lawyer was not functioning as "counsel" as guaranteed by the sixth amendment. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984).

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance is highly deferential, and this court indulges in a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. A defendant is not entitled to perfect representation, but rather only that which is within the range of normal competency. *See State v. Artzer*, 609 N.W.2d 526, 531 (Iowa 2000). "Improvident trial strategy, miscalculated

tactics, [or] mistakes in judgment do not necessarily amount to ineffective assistance of counsel.”¹ *Osborn v. State*, 573 N.W.2d 917, 922 (Iowa 2008).

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b) requires that a guilty plea be supported by a factual basis in the record. “Where a factual basis for a charge does not exist, and trial counsel allows the defendant to plead guilty anyway, counsel has failed to perform an essential duty [and] [p]rejudice in such a case is inherent.” *State v. Schminkey*, 597 N.W.2d 785, 788 (Iowa 1999).

To determine whether a factual basis exists, the court considers “the entire record before the district court at the guilty plea hearing, including any statements made by the defendant, facts related by the prosecutor, and the minutes of testimony.” *State v. Keene*, 630 N.W.2d 579, 581 (Iowa 2001). While the sources to which the Iowa

¹ While recent legislation defers the resolution of ineffective assistance claims from direct appeal to postconviction proceedings, the Iowa Supreme Court has concluded that the newly enacted provision does not apply to cases pending on July 1, 2019. *See State v. Macke*, 933 N.W.2d 226, 235 (Iowa 2019); *State v. Terry*, 2019 WL 6894260, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 18, 2019). El-Amin pleaded guilty and was sentenced on May 9, 2019. May 6, 2019 Order; App. 6-10. Therefore, the court can decide El-Amin’s ineffective assistance claim on direct appeal.

appellate courts look to determine a factual basis are well-settled, the quantum of evidence necessary is less clear. According to one national treatise, “the quantum of evidence needed to supply a factual basis is not specified in the rule, but it is clear that it takes less evidence than would be needed to sustain a conviction at trial.” 1A Charles Alan Wright & Andrew D. Leipold, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 179 (4th ed. 2010). At most, however, evidence sufficient to withstand a motion for a judgment of acquittal should suffice for a factual basis. *See Schminkey*, 597 N.W.2d at 789 (looking to facts and circumstances in the record and drawing inferences to provide the factual basis).

Here, the defendant pleaded guilty to two counts of third-degree sexual abuse. That statute provides that a person commits sexual abuse in the third degree when he performs a sex act “by force or against the will of the other person, whether or not the other person is the person’s spouse or is cohabitating with the other person.” A “sex act” is defined, among other ways, as “sexual contact” between the genitals of two people or between the genitals of one person and the mouth or anus of the other person. Iowa Code § 702.17 (2017).

At the guilty plea proceeding in this case, the defendant admitted to two counts of sexual abuse:

THE COURT: Can you tell me in your own words exactly what you did to commit those two charges?

THE DEFENDANT: Forced Gina to have sex and then intimidated that other guy and made sure he had sex with her too.

THE COURT: All right. I'm going to break it down a little bit more. So can you tell me where you were at when you were engaging in a sex act, by force, with Gina.

THE DEFENDANT: In the alley behind South -- in the alley behind St. Vincent de Paul.

* * *

THE COURT: And would you agree you did engage in a sex act against the will of Gina?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And you had another gentleman that was there with you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes

THE COURT: Do you remember his name?

THE DEFENDANT: Jonathan Campbell.

THE COURT: All right. What did you do to Mr. Campbell?

THE DEFENDANT: Intimidated him to have sex, too.

THE COURT: And who did he have sex with?

THE DEFENDANT: Gina Simmons.

THE COURT: It was in the same alley, in Des Moines, Iowa?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: In Polk County, Iowa?

THE DEFENDANT: Yep, right by Sixth Avenue.

THE COURT: And can you tell me how you used intimidation to get him to do that.

THE DEFENDANT: He says it was a knife, but it wasn't a knife. It was a stick. A stick – a thick one, like Gina said it was. He said a knife. Gina said a stick. It was a stick.

THE COURT: All right. So you have a big stick. And what was -- what were you doing with the big stick?

THE DEFENDANT: Threatening him with it, to have sex with her. Like, I was going to poke him with it.

THE COURT: And did he in fact have sex?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And did you in fact have sex with Gina?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

Trial/Plea Tr. p. 116, line 14 – p. 118, line 6.

On appeal, El-Amin contends that because there is “no indication that [he] performed a sex act upon Jonathan Campbell,” defense counsel should not have permitted him to plead guilty to a crime he did not commit. Defendant’s Brief, pp. 20-21. While it is true that El-Amin did not engage in a sex act with Jonathan Campbell, he did aid and abet the non-consensual sex act that Jonathan Campbell performed on Gina Simmons. In establishing a factual basis for the second count of third-degree sexual abuse, El-Amin admitted that he “intimidated that other guy and made sure he had sex with her too;” as indicated, he conceded that he threatened Jonathan Campbell with a stick and ordered him to have sex with the victim after El-Amin had forced her to engage in a sex act. Plea Tr. p. 116, line 4 – p. 118, line 6.

The parties in this case specifically contemplated a theory of aiding and abetting. *See* Plea Tr. p. 79, line 22 – p. 114 – line 14. Iowa law provides that those who aid and abet in the commission of a public offense “shall be charged, tried and punished as principals.” Iowa Code § 703.1 (2017). To sustain a conviction under a theory of aiding and abetting, “the record must contain substantial evidence the accused assented to or lent countenance and approval to the

criminal act by either actively participating or encouraging it prior to or at the time of its commission.” *State v. Hearn*, 797 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 2011); *State v. Ramirez*, 616 N.W.2d 587, 591–92 (Iowa 2000) (*overruled on other grounds by State v. Reeves*, 636 N.W.2d 22, 25–26 (Iowa 2001)). “Knowledge is essential; however, neither knowledge nor presence at the scene of the crime is sufficient to prove aiding and abetting.” *State v. Barnes*, 204 N.W.2d 827, 828 (Iowa 1972). While presence alone is not enough, evidence of a defendant’s “presence, companionship, and conduct before and after the offense is committed may be enough from which to infer a defendant’s participation in the crime.” *Hearn*, 797 N.W.2d at 581; *State v. Lewis*, 514 N.W.2d 63, 66 (Iowa 1994); *State v. Miles*, 346 N.W.2d 517, 520 (Iowa 1984).

In this case, it is uncontested that El-Amin “intimidated,” in his own words, another man into sexually assaulting the victim, and the other man did so only at El-Amin’s behest. He aided and abetted the second incident of sexual abuse that Gina Simmons was forced to endure. He actively encouraged and directed Jonathan Campbell’s sexual abuse of Gina Simmons.

Although the sentencing order in this case listed Jonathan Campbell as a “victim,” the unusual facts of the case put him somewhere between a victim and a perpetrator. That he was referred to as a victim is inconsequential given that the trial court, the defendant, and the prosecutor were all aware of the theory of the prosecution and the factual basis for the plea. While El-Amin’s actions may not have risen to a compulsion defense for Jonathan Campbell, El-Amin was clearly responsible as an aider and abetting in orchestrating a non-consensual sex act between Jonathan Campbell and Gina Simmons. *See State v. Finnegan*, 478 N.W.2d 630, 632-33 (Iowa 1991) (court rejects defendant’s argument that she could not be held responsible as a principal for the second-degree sexual abuse of her daughter when she threatened and directed the victim to have sex with her husband but did not engage in the sex acts themselves; the court also notes that there is no distinction between principals and aiders and abettors); *see also State v. Christensen*, 2010 WL 4792120, at *2-5 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 24, 2010) (affirming the defendant’s second-degree sexual abuse conviction by aiding and abetting when the defendant sat near the victim while his friend and co-worker sexually abused her, and the defendant “shushed” her, held her hand,

and stroked her hair during the rape); *State v. Thompson*, 2016 WL 6440564, at *5-6 (N.C. Ct. App. Nov. 1, 2016) (court affirms aiding and abetting first-degree sexual offense conviction when the defendant “knowingly advised, instigated, encouraged, procured, and aided [another person]” by telling him “you know what you should be making her do” and positioning the victim’s body but not personally engaging in a sex act with her).

Here, El-Amin admitted that he threatened and intimidated Jonathan Campbell into having sex with Gina Simmons in the alleyway immediately after raping her himself. He is thus accountable for both crimes. The factual basis requirement for the guilty plea was satisfied. Counsel was effective and under no duty to challenge the underlying facts supporting both counts of third-degree sexual abuse. El-Amin’s contention to the contrary should be rejected, and his convictions for third-degree sexual abuse should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the State respectfully requests that the court affirm Ajamu Manu El-Amin's convictions for two counts of third-degree sexual abuse.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

The defendant has requested nonoral submission. The State agrees that the issues presented are fully addressed in the briefs and can be decided without further elaboration. In the event that the court grants the defendant argument, however, the State asks to be heard as well.